Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment (January 2017 version) Chaparral and Serpentine

Vulnerability Assessment Summary

Overall Vulnerability Score and Components:

Vulnerability Component	Score
Sensitivity	Moderate-high
Exposure	Moderate
Adaptive Capacity	Moderate
Vulnerability	Moderate

Overall vulnerability of chaparral and serpentine habitat was scored as moderate. The score is the result of moderate-high sensitivity, moderate future exposure, and moderate adaptive capacity scores.

Precipitation amount was identified as a key climate factor for chaparral and serpentine systems, influencing seedling survival, species composition and diversity in chaparral, and exhibiting minor influences on serpentine species composition.

Key non-climate factors include urban/suburban development and invasive and problematic species. Development destroys and fragments habitat, while exotic species compete with native vegetation, particularly under enhanced fire and nitrogen deposition regimes.

Key disturbance mechanisms for chaparral and serpentine systems include grazing, wildfire, and disease. Wildfire and grazing, in particular, influence habitat distribution and composition, including exotic pressure and influence.

Chaparral and serpentine systems are fairly fragmented/isolated in the Central Valley, which may impede their ability to migrate in response to climate change. Both habitats are fairly resistant to climate changes and invasion, but are vulnerable to more frequent fires. Small dispersal distances of component vegetation likely limits migration in response to climate change. Chaparral and serpentine systems support a relatively high diversity of native species, including many rare and endemic flora and fauna.

Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Management potential for chaparral and serpentine systems was scored as low, and management options identified are minimizing human disturbance (e.g., prescribed fire, grazing) and development.

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Table of Contents

Introduction	∠
Description of Priority Natural Resource	2
Vulnerability Assessment Methodology	
Vulnerability Assessment Details	5
Climate Factors	5
Precipitation (amount)	ε
Soil moisture	ε
Drought	7
Precipitation (timing)	7
Air temperature	7
Storms	7
Non-Climate Factors	8
Invasive & other problematic species	8
Urban/suburban development	8
Rangeland practices	g
Dams, levees, & water diversions	g
Other Factors: Recreation	g
Disturbance Regimes	g
Wildfire	S
Adaptive Capacity	11
Extent, integrity, and continuity	11
Landscape permeability	11
Resistance and recovery	12
Habitat diversity	12
Management potential	13
Value to people	13
Support for conservation	13
Likelihood of converting land to habitat	14
Literature Cited	15

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Introduction

Description of Priority Natural Resource

Chaparral is characterized by evergreen, hard-leaved vegetation (Keeley & Davis 2007). Serpentine habitats occur on serpentine soils, which are characterized by low vegetative productivity due to high heavy metal levels, low calcium/ magnesium ratios, and low levels of critical plant micronutrients, such as phosphorus and nitrogen (Huenneke et al. 1990).

As part of the Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project, workshop participants identified the chaparral and serpentine habitat as a Priority Natural Resource for the Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project in a process that involved two steps: 1) gathering information about the habitat's management importance as indicated by its priority in existing conservation plans and lists, and 2) a workshop with stakeholders to identify the final list of Priority Natural Resources, which includes habitats, species groups, and species.

The rationale for choosing the chaparral and serpentine habitat as a Priority Natural Resource included the following: the habitat has high management importance. Please see Appendix A: "Priority Natural Resource Selection Methodology" for more information.

Vulnerability Assessment Methodology

During a two-day workshop in October of 2015, 30 experts representing 16 Central Valley resource management organizations assessed the vulnerability of priority natural resources to changes in climate and non-climate factors, and identified the likely resulting pressures, stresses, and benefits (see Appendix B: "Glossary" for terms used in this report). The expert opinions provided by these participants are referenced throughout this document with an endnote indicating its source¹. To the extent possible, scientific literature was sought out to support expert opinion garnered at the workshop. Literature searches were conducted for factors and resulting pressures that were rated as high or moderate-high, and all pressures, stresses, and benefits identified in the workshop are included in this report. For more information about the vulnerability assessment methodology, please see Appendix C: "Vulnerability Assessment Methods and Application." Projections of climate and non-climate change for the region were researched and are summarized in Appendix D: "Overview of Projected Future Changes in the California Central Valley".

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Vulnerability Assessment Details

Climate Factors

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity to climate factors and this score was used to calculate overall sensitivity. Future exposure to climate factors was scored and the overall exposure score used to calculate climate change vulnerability.

Climate Factor	Sensitivity	Future Exposure
Air temperature	Low	-
Extreme events: drought	Low-moderate	Moderate
Extreme events: storms	Low	-
Increased wildfire	-	High
Precipitation (amount)	Moderate-high	Low-moderate
Precipitation (timing)	Low-moderate	Low-moderate
Soil moisture	Moderate	-
Overall Scores	Low-moderate	Moderate

Chaparral habitat extent in the Central Valley will likely be affected by climate change, experiencing both habitat losses and new opportunities for expansion (PRBO Conservation Science 2011; Thorne et al. 2016). Modeling by Thorne et al. (2016) indicates that by the end of the century (2070-2099), 16-42% of current chaparral area will become climatically exposed, and 8-54% of current habitat extent will no longer be climatically suitable. Habitat suitability losses are greatest under hotter/drier scenarios and occur predominately in the southern-half to two-thirds of the Central Valley study region (Thorne et al. 2016). Comparatively, the northern section of the study region remains climatically suitable with potential expansions (Thorne et al. 2016). For example, chaparral may be able to colonize areas where oak woodlands are declining, particularly on northeast slopes (minimized heat stress) and western slopes (minimized moisture stress); steep southern slopes will not be ideal habitat¹. Projections from Thorne et al. (2016) match model predictions made by PRBO Conservation Science (2011), including increases in chaparral habitat in northern California by 2070 due to conversion from conifer ecosystems, and chaparral habitat declines in central western California due to grassland expansion. Similarly, Lenihan et al. (2008) project declines in shrubland area under both warmer/drier and warmer/wetter futures due to reduced moisture and increased fire, and forest encroachment, respectively.

In general, endemic plant diversity (e.g., serpentine) is projected to shift toward more coastal and/or northern locations in California by the end of the century, and roughly 66% of endemic plant taxa will likely experience significant range reductions (>80%) by 2100 (Loarie et al. 2008).

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Topographic refugia (e.g., northern aspects, higher elevations) may be available for serpentine species in the future, although refugia quality will likely be moderated by species interactions, pollinator availability, and interactive climate change effects (Spasojevic et al. 2014). In addition, serpentine species may be able to better accommodate increased climatic water deficit relative to adjacent communities on non-serpentine soils (Harrison et al. 2014). Minimum migrations for serpentine species to future suitable habitat are large (663-8275 m), with dispersal distances being larger under warmer-drier scenarios. Large dispersal distances and high soil specificity may undermine serpentine migration (Damschen et al. 2012).

Precipitation (amount)

Sensitivity: Moderate-high (high confidence)

Future exposure: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Although many chaparral species are adapted to seasonal summer drought, they do require enough annual precipitation to allow seedling survival; the majority of chaparral habitat occurs in areas receiving 250-750 mm of annual rainfall (Keeley & Davis 2007). Variability in precipitation volume drives elevational, geographical, topographical, and local chaparral species and life history group diversity via differences in soil moisture (Meentemeyer & Moody 2002; Keeley & Davis 2007; Cornwell et al. 2012). Obligate seeding and facultative seeding species are more drought-tolerant than obligate sprouting species, which rely on deeper root systems to survive low precipitation periods. This life history strategy makes obligate sprouting seedlings vulnerable to moisture stress, limiting recruitment to more mesic areas (Meentemeyer & Moody 2002; Keeley & Davis 2007) and translating to higher cover of this life history group in areas with higher precipitation, including the Sierra Nevada and northern California (Cornwell et al. 2012). Comparatively, facultative and obligate seeders are found on more arid sites (Meentemeyer & Moody 2002), and facultative sprouting species, in particular, are more abundant in southern regions of California (Cornwell et al. 2012).

Shifts in precipitation volume may alter seedling survival and cause changes in chaparral life history group abundance and distribution. For example, more precipitation may favor obligate seedling and obligate sprouting species, while reduced precipitation may favor facultative seedling species, which are currently more prevalent in the southern portion of the study region (Cornwell et al. 2012).

Additionally, shifts in precipitation volume may cause slight shifts in serpentine community composition and species richness, but overall, serpentine communities are fairly resilient to annual precipitation variability (Fernandez-Going et al. 2012). Relative to shifts in annual rainfall, nutrient limitation in serpentine systems exerts a larger influence on community composition, including exotic pressure (Eskelinen & Harrison 2014).

Soil moisture

Sensitivity: Moderate (high confidence)

Thorne et al. (2015) project that climatic water deficit is expected to increase by 131 mm in the Central Valley (compared to 140 mm statewide) by 2070-2099 under a drier scenario and 44

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

mm (compared to 61 mm statewide) under a wetter scenario. Regardless of changes in precipitation, warmer temperatures are expected to increase evapotranspiration and cause drier conditions (Cook et al. 2015). Cumulative water deficit may be the most important variable predicting shrub distribution in arid regions (Dilts et al. 2015), including the Central Valley. Serpentine communities may be more resilient to increased climatic water deficit than similar communities on non-serpentine soils (Harrison et al. 2014).

Drought

Sensitivity: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Future exposure: Moderate (moderate confidence)

In general, the frequency and severity of drought is also expected to increase due to climate change over the next century (Hayhoe et al. 2004; Cook et al. 2015; Diffenbaugh et al. 2015; Williams et al. 2015), as warming temperatures exacerbate dry conditions in years with low precipitation, causing more severe droughts than have previously been observed (Cook et al. 2015; Diffenbaugh et al. 2015). Non-serpentine chaparral grows at higher densities, so it is likely more sensitive to drought¹.

Precipitation (timing)

Workshop participants did not further discuss this and the following climate factors beyond assigning a

Sensitivity: Low-moderate (low confidence)

Future exposure: Low-moderate (moderate confidence)

Air temperature

Sensitivity: Low (moderate confidence)

Storms

Sensitivity: Low (moderate confidence)

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Non-Climate Factors

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity and current exposure to non-climate factors, and these scores were then used to assess their impact on climate change sensitivity.

Non-Climate Factor	Sensitivity	Current Exposure
Agriculture & rangeland practices	Moderate	Moderate-high
Dams, levees, & water diversions	Moderate	Low-moderate
Invasive & other problematic species	High	Moderate-high
Urban/suburban development	High	Low-moderate
Overall Scores	Moderate-high	Moderate

Invasive & other problematic species

Sensitivity: High (high confidence)

Current exposure: Moderate-high (high confidence)

Pattern of exposure: Highly invaded community with widespread impacts. Serpentine

habitat is not easy to invade, and thus has lower exposure.

Intact chaparral canopies are resistant to invasion (Keeley et al. 2003), but exotic annual grasses and forbs can invade and establish in chaparral habitats post-fire (Keeley and Davis 2007) and in areas with high nitrogen (N) deposition (Allen et al. 2000). Annual grass invasion facilitates more frequent burning, which in turn favors exotic annual dominance, perpetuating a pattern of native chaparral displacement and eventually causing conversion to non-native annual grassland (Haidinger & Keeley 1993). It is unknown how to reverse grassland conversion¹. In addition to altering fire regimes, invasive annual grasses can also alter competition and species composition (particularly for native annuals), and dry out the topsoil, decreasing chaparral shrub germination rates/success¹.

Serpentine soils act as refugia for native species from invasive exotics due to low nutrient levels (Huenneke et al. 1990), but enhanced N deposition facilitates invasion (Huenneke et al. 1990). In serpentine habitats, nutrient addition-mediated increases in exotic grasses contributes to altered serpentine species composition and reduced native species richness, particularly forbs and legumes, due to competition for light and other resources (Huenneke et al. 1990). Paired with shifts in precipitation timing, nutrient increases could cause higher invasion rates of serpentine systems (Eskelinen & Harrison 2014).

Urban/suburban development

Sensitivity: High (high confidence)

Current exposure: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Pattern of exposure: Localized; within the Central Valley foothills (primarily on the west side of the valley where most chaparral occurs), urbanization impacts are going to be limited to the areas of rapid urban expansion—the San Francisco Bay Area and Sacramento corridor. Because chaparral habitat is found on hillsides, some areas cannot be developed (or only small developments are possible). Development exposure is minimal for serpentine habitats because development is not desirable due to very high asbestos levels.

Only chaparral habitats are affected by this factor; serpentine habitats have minimal exposure to this factor. Urban/suburban development destroys and fragments habitat, and can contribute to altered ecosystem processes in chaparral (e.g., increased fire ignitions; Regan et al. 2010).

Rangeland practices

Sensitivity: Moderate (moderate confidence)

Current exposure: Moderate-high (moderate confidence) **Pattern of exposure:** Widespread throughout the area.

Dams, levees, & water diversions

Sensitivity: Moderate (moderate confidence) **Current exposure:** Low-moderate (low confidence)

Pattern of exposure: Localized; there are not many dams on the west side where most chaparral occurs. Dams may only be an issue if the proposed Sites Reservoir is built and

floods this habitat.

Other Factors: Recreation

The impact of recreation on chaparral habitat is a problem, and fire roads can allow careless people to ignite fires and introduce invasive plants, especially in Mendocino forestlands facing the valley. Strategy needs to be to remove fire roads on a large scale.

Disturbance Regimes

Workshop participants scored the resource's sensitivity to disturbance regimes, and these scores were used to calculate climate change sensitivity.

Overall sensitivity to disturbance regimes: High (high confidence)

Wildfire

Sensitivity: High (confidence not assessed) **Future exposure:** High (high confidence)

Large fire occurrence and total area burned in California are projected to continue increasing over the next century with total area burned projected to increase by up to 74% by 2085 (Westerling et al. 2011).

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

In chaparral systems, typical wildfire dynamics include crown fires followed by rapid post-fire recovery with higher diversity in burned versus mature stands. Chaparral can act as barricade to fire moving across the landscape and therefore may represent a mechanism for maintaining climate refugia¹. Chaparral species exhibit three distinct life histories in response to fire: obligate sprouters resprout from root crowns and lignotubers, obligate seeders recruit from soil seedbanks stimulated by fire, and facultative seeders use a combination of both strategies.

Chaparral is vulnerable to more frequent fires (<10 year fire return intervals), which can kill recent seedlings, prevent seedbank replenishment for obligate seeders (Zedler 1995; Keeley & Davis 2007), and prevent obligate-resprouter recruitment, which occurs during fire-free intervals (Keeley & Davis 2007). Too-frequent burning facilitates chaparral type conversion to grassland systems (Haidinger & Keeley 1993). Wildfire intensity has variable impacts on post-fire chaparral recovery, enhancing recruitment of some species and inhibiting recruitment of others (Keeley et al. 2005).

Relative to other habitats (e.g., grassland, chaparral), serpentine systems usually experience lower fire frequency and severity due to reduced productivity and biomass. However, serpentine habitats may be sensitive to too frequent burning because they are slower to recover from fire. Fire stimulates diversity and species richness on serpentine sites, but to a lesser degree than adjacent habitats (Safford & Harrison 2004, 2008).

Grazing

Sensitivity: Moderate (confidence not assessed)

Historically, chaparral was burned and replaced with grasslands for grazing and rangeland needs (e.g., see Bentley 1967). However, reduced grazing has led to some shrub expansion at the expense of grasslands in central California (Keeley 2005). Within existing chaparral habitats, grazing may facilitate exotic invasion by disturbing the shrub canopy (Stylinski & Allen 1999). However, overall grazing impacts vary according to stocking rates; moderate grazing can be beneficial, while higher grazing intensity can reduce biodiversity and contribute to erosion and degraded water quality¹.

In serpentine systems, grazing may help mitigate increased thatch from invasive annual grasses, allowing native forbs and legumes to persist even under enhanced nutrient scenarios (Huenneke et al. 1990).

Disease

Sensitivity: Low-moderate (confidence score not assessed)

Disease impacts are highly localized¹. Several chaparral species are susceptible to sudden oak death (pathogen *Phytophthora ramorum*), including manzanita (*Arctostaphylos manzanita*), toyon (*Heteromeles arbutifolia*), and California buckeye (*Aesculus californica*) (Davidson et al. 2003). Shifts in precipitation timing and volume, particularly increased winter precipitation,

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

could increase pathogen survival and sporulation, translating to increased risk for chaparral and adjacent oak ecosystems (Sturrock et al. 2011).

Low calcium levels in serpentine soils may expose serpentine species to higher disease infection rates and severities (e.g., rust fungus, *Melamspora lini*). Higher disease exposure may drive more rapid evolution than adjacent systems and/or alter life history strategies of component serpentine species (Springer et al. 2006).

Adaptive Capacity

Workshop participants scored the resource's adaptive capacity and the overall score was used to calculate climate change vulnerability.

Adaptive Capacity Component	Score
Extent, Integrity, & Continuity	Low-moderate
Resistance & Recovery	Moderate
Habitat Diversity	Low-moderate
Overall Score	Moderate

Extent, integrity, and continuity

Overall degree of habitat extent, integrity, and continuity: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Geographic extent of habitat: Occurs across the state (high confidence) **Structural and functional integrity of habitat:** Altered but not degraded (high confidence)

Continuity of habitat: Isolated and/or quite fragmented (high confidence)

Chaparral occurs across California, and within the study region, occurs in the Sierra Nevada foothills, northern portions of the Central Valley study region, and bordering the Bay Area (Keeley & Davis 2007).

Serpentine soils occur on roughly 5000 km of California's land area (Safford & Harrison 2008) and typically occupy spatially isolated outcrops (Damschen et al. 2012). Spatial separation between suitable substrates paired with low dispersal ability likely undermines the ability of serpentine species to migrate in the face of climate change (Damschen et al. 2012). Additionally, small populations may make serpentine species vulnerable to extirpation (Loarie et al. 2008).

Landscape permeability

Geologic barriers act as a barrier for serpentine habitats due to their high soil specificity (Damschen et al. 2012), but this is not the case for chaparral¹.

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Resistance and recovery

Overall ability to resist and recover from stresses: Moderate (high confidence)

Resistance to stresses/maladaptive human responses: Moderate-high (high confidence)

Ability to recover from stresses/maladaptive human response impacts: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Chaparral is fairly resistant to climate-related stressors, and disturbance-adapted vegetation allows recovery from most events given sufficient time, with the exception of intense drought and too-frequent fire (Keeley & Brennan 2012). However, once chaparral is pushed beyond a threshold (e.g., conversion to annual grassland), it has a hard time recovering from conversion; chaparral does not necessarily return when the disturbance is lowered or removed¹. Additionally, seed dispersal may be limited, particularly for obligate seeders, while seedling recruitment for obligate sprouters may be limited by moisture availability, undermining the ability of this habitat to migrate in response to climate change (Keeley & Davis 2007).

Serpentine species may be fairly resilient to climate change – particularly increased climatic water deficit – due to historical adaptations to accommodate harsh environmental conditions (Fernandez-Going et al. 2012; Harrison et al. 2014). Additionally, serpentine systems may be more adaptive to climate change because they are under less stress from invasive species (Huenneke et al. 1990) and fire (Safford & Harrison 2004, 2008). However, migration of component serpentine species in response to climate factors is limited by the availability of suitable soil (Damschen et al. 2012).

Habitat diversity

Overall habitat diversity: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Physical and topographical diversity of the habitat: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Diversity of component species within the habitat: Moderate (high confidence)

Diversity of functional groups within the habitat: Moderate (low confidence)

Component species or functional groups particularly sensitive to climate change:

- Species that are not stump sprouters will be more sensitive. Chamise can green up after very intense fire, whereas *Ceanothus* or *Arctostaphylos* rely on seed bank to regenerate and hot fire will kill seeds.
- Well-studied and high-risk serpentine species.

Keystone or foundational species within the habitat:

- Dominant vegetation in chaparral (fire-adapted woody shrubs—chamise, manzanita, toyon) determine fire behavior and other major elements of ecosystem function.
- Ceanothus is important because it fixes nitrogen and determines soil fertility.
- Many species are highly dependent on chaparral (e.g., wrentit [Chamaea fasciata]).

Other critical factors that may affect habitat diversity:

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

- Human fire ignition at the urban interface
- Local OHV activity
- Major wildfires

Chaparral stands are typically dominated by shrubs and sub-shrubs, but also support annual herbs and perennial bulbs and herbs. Chaparral species composition varies widely across different geographic regions, although chamise (*Adenstoma fasciculatum*) is fairly widespread, and is typically co-dominant with *Ceanothus* and *Arctostaphylos* species. Community diversity is highest post-fire, but declines with the closing of the shrub canopy (Keeley & Davis 2007). Both chaparral and serpentine habitats support many rare and endemic species (Keeley & Davis 2007; Safford & Harrison 2008). Serpentine soils typically feature vegetation adapted to low nutrient conditions, including many perennial grasses and forbs (Safford & Harrison 2008).

Management potential

Workshop participants scored the resource's management potential.

Management Potential Component	Score
Habitat value	Low
Societal support	Low
Agriculture & rangeland practices	Low-moderate
Extreme events	Moderate-high
Converting retired land	Low
Managing climate change impacts	Low
Overall Score	Low

Overall management potential: Low (high confidence)

Value to people

Value of habitat to people: Low (high confidence)

Support for conservation

Degree of societal support for managing and conserving habitat: Low (high confidence)

Degree to which agriculture and/or rangelands can benefit/support/increase the resilience of this habitat: Low-moderate (high confidence)

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Degree to which extreme events (e.g., flooding, drought) influence societal support for taking action: Moderate-high (moderate confidence)

Likelihood of converting land to habitat

Likelihood of (or support for) converting retired agriculture land to habitat: Low (high confidence)

Likelihood of managing or alleviating climate change impacts on habitat: Low (high confidence)

Description of likelihood: Need to decrease the flammability of landscapes by selecting species that do not burn very hot (e.g., chamise burns very hot). Refugia could be developed by lowering fuel loads and planting specific species with lower fuel contents.

Minimizing anthropogenic chaparral disturbance (e.g., prescribed fire, grazing) may help prevent invasive species establishment and spread (Keeley & Davis 2007). Limiting development and managing fire risk may help mitigate fire and development impacts on chaparral (Syphard et al. 2007, 2013). Many serpentine soil areas occur on public lands managed by the Forest Service, the Bureau of Land Management, and California State Parks (Safford & Harrison 2008).

Atriplex spp. can be translocated along with other more drought-tolerant chaparral species. South-facing steep slopes along Cache Creek may be good location to translocate to, as current species may not last with climate change. Generally, management trends will be to replace mesic species with more xeric-adapted chaparral and species that are currently more southerly distributed; slope aspect will be important¹.

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Literature Cited

- Allen EB, Eliason SA, Marquez VJ, Schultz GP, Storms NK, Stylinski CD, Zink TA, Allen MF. 2000. What are the limits to restoration of coastal sage scrub in southern California? Pages 253–262 in J. E. Keeley, M. Baer-Keeley, and C. J. Fotheringham, editors. 2nd interface between ecology and land development in California. (Open File Report 00-62). U.S. Geological Survey, Western Ecological Research Center, Sacramento, CA.
- Bentley JR. 1967. Conversion of chaparral areas: Techniques used in California. Agriculture Handbook 328. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, Berkeley, CA. Available from http://www.fs.fed.us/psw/publications/documents/misc/ah328.pdf.
- Cook BI, Ault TR, Smerdon JE. 2015. Unprecedented 21st century drought risk in the American Southwest and Central Plains. Science Advances 1:e1400082.
- Cornwell WK, Stuart SA, Ramirez A, Dolanc CR, Thorne JH, Ackerly DD. 2012. Climate change impacts on California vegetation: physiology, life history, and ecosystem change. CEC-500-2012-023. California Energy Commission. Available from http://escholarship.org/uc/item/6d21h3q8 (accessed March 2, 2016).
- Damschen EI, Harrison S, Ackerly DD, Fernandez-Going BM, Anacker BL. 2012. Endemic plant communities on special soils: early victims or hardy survivors of climate change? Journal of Ecology **100**:1122–1130.
- Davidson JM, Werres S, Garbelotto M, Hansen EM, Rizzo D. 2003. Sudden oak death and associated diseases caused by Phytophthora ramorum. Plant Health Progress **Online**. Available from http://www.plantmanagementnetwork.org/pub/php/diagnosticguide/2003/sod/ (accessed March 2, 2016).
- Diffenbaugh NS, Swain DL, Touma D. 2015. Anthropogenic warming has increased drought risk in California. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **112**:3931–3936.
- Dilts TE, Weisberg PJ, Dencker CM, Chambers JC. 2015. Functionally relevant climate variables for arid lands: a climatic water deficit approach for modelling desert shrub distributions. Journal of Biogeography **42**:1986–1997.
- Eskelinen A, Harrison S. 2014. Exotic plant invasions under enhanced rainfall are constrained by soil nutrients and competition. Ecology **95**:682–692.
- Fernandez-Going B, Anacker B, Harrison S. 2012. Temporal variability in California grasslands: soil type and species functional traits mediate response to precipitation. Ecology **93**:2104–2114.
- Haidinger TL, Keeley JE. 1993. Role of high fire frequency in destruction of mixed chaparral. Madroño **40**:141–147.
- Harrison S, Damschen E, Fernandez-Going B, Eskelinen A, Copeland S. 2014. Plant communities on infertile soils are less sensitive to climate change. Annals of Botany:mcu230.
- Hayhoe K et al. 2004. Emissions pathways, climate change, and impacts on California. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **101**:12422–12427.
- Huenneke LF, Hamburg SP, Koide R, Mooney HA, Vitousek PM. 1990. Effects of soil resources on plant invasion and community structure in Californian serpentine grassland. Ecology **71**:478–491.
- Keeley JE. 2005. Fire history of the San Francisco East Bay region and implications for landscape patterns*. International Journal of Wildland Fire **14**:285–296.
- Keeley JE, Brennan TJ. 2012. Fire-driven alien invasion in a fire-adapted ecosystem. Oecologia **169**:1043–1052
- Keeley JE, Davis FW. 2007. Chaparral. Pages 339–366 in M. . Barbour, T. Keeler-Wolf, and A. A. Schoenherr, editors. Terrestrial vegetation of California, 3rd edition. University of California Press, Los Angeles, CA. Available from http://www.werc.usgs.gov/ProductDetails.aspx?ID=3457.

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

- Keeley JE, Lubin D, Fotheringham CJ. 2003. Fire and grazing impacts on plant diversity and alien plant invasions in the southern Sierra Nevada. Ecological Applications **13**:1355–1374.
- Keeley JE, Pfaff AH, Safford HD. 2005. Fire suppression impacts on postfire recovery of Sierra Nevada chaparral shrublands*. International Journal of Wildland Fire **14**:255–265.
- Lenihan JM, Bachelet D, Neilson RP, Drapek R. 2008. Response of vegetation distribution, ecosystem productivity, and fire to climate change scenarios for California. Climatic Change 87:215–230.
- Loarie SR, Carter BE, Hayhoe K, McMahon S, Moe R, Knight CA, Ackerly DD. 2008. Climate change and the future of California's endemic flora. PLoS One **3**:e2502.
- Meentemeyer RK, Moody A. 2002. Distribution of plant life history types in California chaparral: the role of topographically-determined drought severity. Journal of Vegetation Science **13**:67–78.
- PRBO Conservation Science. 2011. Projected effects of climate change in California: Ecoregional summaries emphasizing consequences for wildlife. Version 1.0. PRBO Conservation Science, Petaluma, CA. Available from http://data.prbo.org/apps/bssc/climatechange.
- Regan HM, Crookston JB, Swab R, Franklin J, Lawson DM. 2010. Habitat fragmentation and altered fire regime create trade-offs for an obligate seeding shrub. Ecology **91**:1114–1123.
- Safford HD, Harrison S. 2004. Fire effects on plant diversity in serpentine vs. sandstone chaparral. Ecology **85**:539–548.
- Safford HD, Harrison S. 2008. The effects of fire on serpentine vegetation and implications for management. Pages 321–328 in M. G. Narog, editor. Proceedings of the 2002 fire conference: managing fire and fuels in the remaining wildlands and open spaces of the southwestern United States. December 2-5, 2002, San Diego, CA. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station., (Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-189). Albany, CA. Available from http://www.fs.fed.us/psw/publications/documents/psw_gtr189/psw_gtr189_321-328_safford.pdf.
- Spasojevic MJ, Harrison S, Day HW, Southard RJ. 2014. Above-and belowground biotic interactions facilitate relocation of plants into cooler environments. Ecology letters **17**:700–709.
- Springer YP, Hardcastle BA, Gilbert GS. 2006. Soil calcium and plant disease in serpentine ecosystems: a test of the pathogen refuge hypothesis. Oecologia **151**:10–21.
- Sturrock RN, Frankel SJ, Brown AV, Hennon PE, Kliejunas JT, Lewis KJ, Worrall JJ, Woods AJ. 2011. Climate change and forest diseases. Plant Pathology **60**:133–149.
- Stylinski CD, Allen EB. 1999. Lack of native species recovery following severe exotic disturbance in southern Californian shrublands. Journal of Applied Ecology **36**:544–554.
- Syphard AD, Clarke KC, Franklin J. 2007. Simulating fire frequency and urban growth in southern California coastal shrublands, USA. Landscape Ecology **22**:431–445.
- Syphard AD, Regan HM, Franklin J, Swab RM, Bonebrake TC. 2013. Does functional type vulnerability to multiple threats depend on spatial context in Mediterranean-climate regions? Diversity and Distributions **19**:1263–1274.
- Thorne JH, Boynton RM, Flint LE, Flint AL. 2015. The magnitude and spatial patterns of historical and future hydrologic change in California's watersheds. Ecosphere **6**:1–30.
- Thorne JH, Boynton RM, Holguin AJ, Stewart JAE, Bjorkman J. 2016. A climate change vulnerability assessment of California's terrestrial vegetation. California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW), Sacramento, CA. Available from https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/FileHandler.ashx?DocumentID=116208&inline.
- Westerling AL, Bryant BP, Preisler HK, Holmes TP, Hidalgo HG, Das T, Shrestha SR. 2011. Climate change and growth scenarios for California wildfire. Climatic Change **109**:445–463.
- Williams AP, Seager R, Abatzoglou JT, Cook BI, Smerdon JE, Cook ER. 2015. Contribution of anthropogenic warming to California drought during 2012-2014. Geophysical Research Letters in press:1–10.

Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment: Chaparral and Serpentine

Zedler PH. 1995. Fire frequency in southern California shrublands: biological effects and management options. Pages 101–112 in J. E. Keeley and T. Scott, editors. Wildfires in California brushlands: ecology and resource management. International Association of Wildland Fire, Fairfield, WA. Available from http://www.werc.usgs.gov/OLDsitedata/seki/pdfs/zedler-fire_frequency_s_ca.pdf.

¹ Expert opinion, Central Valley Landscape Conservation Project Vulnerability Assessment, Oct. 8-9, 2015.